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PREFACE

On January 20, 2009, Barack Obama was inaugurated as President of the United States, the first African American to win that office. How did it happen? It can’t be traced to his stirring announcement of candidacy in Springfield, Illinois, two years earlier, or even to his memorable keynote address in Boston at the 2004 Democratic National Convention. Certainly his campaign organization was superb. But what gave any African American the opportunity to put together such a broad-based popular coalition?

The antecedents of his victory go back to the Civil War and its aftermath. The Thirteenth, Fourteenth, and Fifteenth Amendments to the Constitution, which were ratified in the flush of Reconstruction between 1865 and 1870, were the first amendments to give our federal government new powers.1 The Thirteenth abolished slavery and involuntary servitude. Due process and equal protection were guaranteed to all by the Fourteenth. The language of the Fifteenth could not have been clearer:

1. The right of citizens of the United States to vote shall not be denied or abridged by the United States or by any State on account of race, color, or previous condition of servitude.

2. The Congress shall have power to enforce this article by appropriate legislation.

The United States Supreme Court was in accord in 1886, characterizing the right to vote as a fundamental right because it was “preservative of all rights.”2 It just was not enforced for African Americans in the South once Reconstruction ended. It was not until 1957 that enforcement legislation was passed,3 and neither that statute nor follow-up legislation in 1960, though path- breaking, was sufficient.

What completed the job was the Voting Rights Act of 1965, the greatest civil rights legislation since Reconstruction.4 This is the story of the people involved in United States v. Theron Lynd, a civil rights trial in Mississippi that helped bring about the passage of the Voting Rights Act by demonstrating the limitations of the 1957 and 1960 statutes. Marian Wright Edelman, who, as a young lawyer, courageously represented Mississippi blacks, has described people such as our African American witnesses in the Lynd case as “ordinary people of grace with extraordinary courage.”5 I write as one of the lawyers who prepared their case.

Twenty-seven years after that first Lynd trial, I returned to Mississippi to talk again to the brave witnesses with whom I had worked preparing for their testimony in 1962. They are not household names, not even Vernon Dahmer, who was murdered because of his pursuit of the cause of voting rights. But they had stayed vividly in my memory during the intervening years. In this book you will learn what made them tick, their hopes, and their aspirations. There would have been no Lynd case without their courage, without their tenacity in going back over and over again to attempt to register to vote. Without them and without their counterparts in some other Deep South counties and parishes, the Justice Department could not have acted. There would have been no Voting Rights Act, and there would have been no Obama presidency. But the Lynd case was first. It was the first case brought to trial in Mississippi by the Justice Department, taking on a seemingly omnipotent registrar’s denial of the right to vote to African Americans.

Since that time I have interviewed many people in Forrest County, Mississippi, and elsewhere and reexamined the evidence, so that I can present this case from multiple points of view, the personal as well as the legal.

[image: image]

It was February 1962. I had passed the bar a year and a half before. I had been with the Civil Rights Division of the U.S. Department of Justice for less than four months when I went down to Mississippi for the first time to help prepare United States v. Theron Lynd. My role was to find new witnesses and talk with those we had already identified whose testimony would demonstrate the systemic discrimination against the county’s black citizens.

Four years before, David Roberson, born the same month I was in 1934, had returned home to Mississippi, after serving with the U.S. Army in Korea. A college graduate, intelligent and well read, Roberson had gotten a job teaching science at Rowan High School in Hattiesburg, in the southeast part of the state. But when he tried to register to vote, he could not, because of his dark skin. David Roberson would be one of our witnesses.

In Mississippi, in 1962, African Americans were denied benefits of citizenship in a way unimaginable today. They could not eat in the same restaurants as whites, sit down next to them in a movie theater, or enroll at any state university. For them there were only underfunded black colleges with no graduate programs. Grown men were called “Boy.” The Klan imperial wizard Sam Bowers was riding high, free to plan the murder of law-abiding African American citizens and their supporters, if he so chose.

African Americans had little power to change this. With few exceptions, they were not permitted to vote. As Vernon Dahmer liked to say: “If you can’t vote, you don’t count.”

The denial of voting rights gave the lie to the myth that the “southern way of life” enshrined some decent “separate but equal” status for whites and African Americans. And white leaders were determined to deny them the vote. For once they could vote, how could a governor of Mississippi publicly and personally turn away a qualified African American student from the leading state university—as Governor Ross Barnett did in 1962?

The Kennedy administration, for which civil rights aspirations had scarcely been a priority, concluded that the best way to improve the lot of African Americans in the South was to help them secure the right to vote.6 That became the administration’s great civil rights goal. The Justice Department’s three-year-old Civil Rights Division sent a dozen or so lawyers into the South to try to bring this about. I was one of those lawyers.

It was not a simple matter. Each of Mississippi’s eighty-two counties had a separate registrar of voters who had to be tackled individually. But United States v. Lynd put Forrest County, and ultimately the whole South—and the United States of America—on the road to permanent change.

My story has some white “heavies” in its cast: Theron Lynd, the registrar; M. M. Roberts, his lawyer; and Harold Cox, the federal judge who presided over the trial. Much of their behavior was repugnant to anyone with a sense of fairness.

But the story has sympathetic white characters, too, like Huck Dunagin, the union’s chief steward at Hercules Powder Company, and Judges Tuttle, Wisdom, Brown, and Rives—the great judges of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. Those judges kept the U.S. district judges of their circuit on track as best they could.

The real heroes of the story, of course, are David Roberson and the other African American citizens who risked their jobs, their health, even their lives, to attempt to register to vote, and then to testify in federal court about their rejection as voters for no reason other than the color of their skin. And risk their lives they did. Vernon Dahmer, leader of Forrest County’s small NAACP chapter, was, as noted, murdered by the White Knights of the Ku Klux Klan in 1966.

When, in 1965, the Voting Rights Act was challenged in the Supreme Court by six southern states, Chief Justice Earl Warren, writing for the Court, pointed to Roberson and our other teacher-witnesses as proof that radical federal legislation was needed: “In Forrest County, Mississippi, the registrar rejected six Negroes with baccalaureate degrees, three of whom were also Masters of Arts.”7 That was the difference. All sixteen of our African American witnesses were courageous, competent human beings, but Theron Lynd’s rejection of teachers with such credentials was ludicrous on its face. It flagged the whole registration process as a farce. When Judge Cox did not immediately order their registration, it was incumbent upon us to appeal without delay to the reconstituted Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit, and that is what we did—successfully.

The Student Non-Violent Coordinating Committee (SNCC) bravely performed necessary work encouraging potential Negro voters in many southern counties, and SNCC workers came to Forrest County as well—after our sixteen African American witnesses had risked their lives by attempting to register to vote and then traveling to Jackson twice to testify.

Many today were born after this time. Others lived through it, following news accounts. Some have seen movies. One young white man I met in Hattiesburg had learned about it on the History Channel. He told me, “I couldn’t believe it happened right here in Mississippi!” This story brings them all inside and introduces them to the people who made change happen.

Vernon Dahmer did not die in vain. The “stringent new remedies” of the Voting Rights Act, “designed by Congress to banish the blight of racial discrimination in voting, which … infected the electoral process in parts of our country for nearly a century,”8 did complete the job. Among those remedies was the suspension of literacy tests for five years.

Today, Hattiesburg, Forrest County’s seat, has an African American mayor, as it has had many black councilors and representatives in the state legislature. In 2008, African American voters carried Barack Obama to resounding Democratic primary victories in Mississippi and other southern states and then were significant factors in his election in November. And the belated but successful state prosecution of Imperial Wizard Sam Bowers in 1998 for the murder of Vernon Dahmer had made clear to one and all that Mississippi no longer tolerated the killing of its African American citizens.
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PROLOGUE

IN THE OFFICE OF REGISTRAR
LUTHER COX

“How Many Bubbles in a Bar of Soap?”

Black citizens of Forrest County, Mississippi, never knew what would happen when they went in to try to register to vote during the time Luther Cox was in charge. But they could be almost certain they would leave unregistered.

The women who worked for Luther Cox formed a protective buffer for the registrar, just as they did later for Lynd. “He’s not in, he’s not available” became a familiar refrain—though Cox might be standing at the back of the office.

For black applicants, Luther M. Cox, Jr., was the state of Mississippi. A one-time department store bookkeeper and deputy sheriff, a combat infantryman in World War I, Cox had been Forrest County’s circuit clerk and registrar of voters since 1935. And Luther Cox was no longer content with what the crafters of the Mississippi Constitution had written in 1890.

Vernon Dahmer had been registered in the 1940s, but when a reregistration was ordered in 1949, a deputy clerk was in the process of making out his new registration card when Luther Cox called Dahmer out into the hall and told him he could not reregister.

Dahmer kept going back to try. State law authorized a registrar only to determine whether applicants could read a section of the Mississippi Constitution, or, if unable to read, interpret a section read to them. Luther Cox also questioned applicants about the “due process of law.” Dahmer did not know what the phrase meant. He failed the registrar’s test and left with an “air of rejection.”1 Cox had another question he liked to ask would-be black registrants: “How many bubbles in a bar of soap?”

Some fifty times Richard Boyd tried.2 Boyd worked at the Hercules Powder Company, Hattiesburg’s major employer. Monday was his day off. Just about every Monday for two years, Boyd went to Luther Cox’s office in the courthouse to try to register.

Finally, in February 1954, Boyd had the chance to talk to Cox. “I’ll tell you why it’s important to me,” he told the registrar. “I go to statewide meetings of the Worshipful Masters of Masonic Lodges. I’m asked each time if I’m registered to vote, and I’m embarrassed to have to keep saying I’m not.”

Cox muttered that “those niggers in Jackson” should mind their own business, but he told Boyd to come back the next week. Finally, Cox let him sign the book.

In 1950, fifteen resolute leaders of Forrest County’s black community, Dahmer included, brought suit against Cox for his administration of the voting laws. They were not waiting for outside help, governmental or private. U.S. district judge Sidney Mize dismissed the action, and the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit declined to act until state administrative appeals were exhausted. A federal grand jury presentation based largely on the testimony of teacher Addie Burger was made by the local United States Attorney at the direction of the Civil Rights Section of the Justice Department’s Criminal Division. But the grand jury refused to indict Luther Cox. The futility of attempting to deal with voting discrimination with inadequate federal criminal statutes and hostile white jurors was apparent.

About 10 A.M. Friday, April 11, 1952, nine black applicants were back again at Luther Cox’s office. This group included the Reverend Wayne Kelly Pittman and Savannah Davis, who previously had been asked both how many bubbles were in a bar of soap and what the due process of law was.

The same two white women behind the counter who’d been registering white people said they couldn’t register Reverend Pittman, Savannah Davis, and the others; they would have to come back when Mr. Cox was there. One black woman, Florine Love, waited another twenty minutes, and Cox finally appeared. But all he told her was that he wouldn’t register her, and she should go to see T. Price Dale, the lawyer for the fifteen black plaintiffs. But these nine black men and women prepared affidavits about their experiences, which were sent to the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People (NAACP). At a time when SNCC, the Congress of Racial Equality (CORE), and the Southern Christian Leadership Conference (SCLC) were still unheard of, the NAACP was operating nationally, including small clandestine chapters in Mississippi.

Before the end of the month, the nine affidavits were on the New York desk of NAACP special counsel Thurgood Marshall. Marshall, who had succeeded in persuading the courts to strike down segregation in major higher education cases,3 was already two years into his assault on segregated public education that would culminate in the Brown decision by the Supreme Court on May 17, 1954.4

He was not too busy, however, to send the affidavits to President Truman’s last chief of the Justice Department’s Criminal Division, requesting “an immediate investigation of these complaints and the necessary definitive action to insure the protection of the right of qualified Negro electors to register and vote in the State of Mississippi.”5

There was paper response within two weeks, but meaningful action was painfully slow. However, Herbert Brownell, President Eisenhower’s first attorney general, submitted one of the affidavits—the author’s identity not revealed for her protection—to Congress in advocating for what became the Civil Rights Act of 1957. Finally, federal help was coming.


CHAPTER 1

RACE-HAUNTED MISSISSIPPI

As I grew up in Boston, becoming more and more conscious of public affairs, of the differences—and similarities—between North and South, one thing was clear to me: Mississippi was first in poverty and last in its treatment of its black citizens. Lynchings there were covered in the Boston papers.

Treatment of blacks in the country generally was far from perfect, as de facto housing segregation in my own city indicated. Yet, it was different in kind from the blanket denial of the right to vote to southern blacks, particularly in Mississippi.

In fields unrelated to civil rights, southern states produced positive national leaders. Georgia, my father’s home state, had Senator Walter George, chair of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee. Georgia also had as a senator venerable, respected Richard Russell, for whom one of today’s senate office buildings is named. Alabama’s Lister Hill was a leader in health care legislation, and the state’s other longtime senator, John Sparkman, had been Adlai Stevenson’s running mate in 1952. And Arkansas had the internationalist Senator J. William Fulbright. These bright men did not rock the racial boat, but they did far more for their states and country than just cry race.

Mississippi senator John Stennis was a leader of the Armed Services Committee, but in 1948 the state’s governor was Fielding L. Wright, the vice presidential candidate on Strom Thurmond’s Dixiecrat ticket, which ran nationally in opposition to the strong civil rights plank inspired by Hubert H. Humphrey at the Democratic National Convention. Segregation and violence toward blacks thought not to “know their place” continued unabated. Most of all, the state was personified by cigar-chomping James O. Eastland, chairman of the Senate’s Judiciary Committee,1 appointed to succeed Senator Pat Harrison, who had died in 1941.

By early 1962 when I made my first foray into Mississippi as one of Robert Kennedy’s civil rights lawyers, the societal structure for which Eastland was conducting a last holding action had become an anachronism in most of the country. In Chicago, Kansas City and Seattle blacks and whites sat side by side at lunch counters and next to each other in theaters. The question was what, if anything, the rest of the country was prepared to do about Mississippi.

The historian Neil McMillen has called the state in which he taught at the University of Southern Mississippi “this most race-haunted of all American states.”2 Before the Civil War, free blacks in the state were few in number and heavily restricted. The ballot had been limited to free white males. There had been 773 free blacks in Mississippi in 1860, and the state allowed no more to enter. Those already there were not permitted to travel within the state without a certificate authorizing such travel.3

But a revolution in racial mores was underway. In 1867, freedmen became registered to vote under military authority, and the color bar was dropped from the Reconstruction Constitution of 1868. With black support, a new legislature was elected that endorsed the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments and brought Mississippi back into the Union in 1870. In the early 1870s, its Ohio-born Republican governor, Ridgley C. Powers, in the flush of Reconstruction, declared it the first state to guarantee “full civil and political rights to all her citizens, without distinction.”4

Yet it was all illusory. While two blacks served in the United States Senate for a time,5 and there were some other prominent black officeholders, whites continued to dominate the local power structures, and whites never accepted black suffrage.

After the 1876 election returns for president were repeatedly challenged, a supposedly bipartisan commission awarded the presidency to Republican Rutherford B. Hayes over Democrat Samuel J. Tilden in exchange for commitments by Hayes that included his withdrawing federal troops from the South. Southern blacks were on their own, and intimidation and election fraud perpetuated white domination until Mississippi’s landmark Constitutional Convention made it “legal” in 1890. The state’s voting-age population then was 271,080: 150,469 blacks and 120,611 whites.6

Convention president S. S. Calhoon led the way with his call “to exclude the negro.”7 Forthright approaches such as the exclusion from public office of anyone with “as much as one-eighth negro blood” did not carry the day,8 but the convention majority cleverly found language that would codify existing mores without being so blatant as to cause northern interference. Article 12 of the constitution didn’t mention race.

However, to vote in Mississippi after January 1, 1892, an adult male was required by Article 12 to be “duly registered,” to have paid all taxes, including a two-dollar annual poll tax, not to have committed any number of crimes, and—most important—to be able to read any section of the Mississippi Constitution or to “be able to understand the same when read to him, or give a reasonable interpretation thereof.”9 Without further instructions, the registrars of voters of Mississippi’s counties got the message. At the turn of the century, a local editor wrote: “The negroes are as far from participating in governmental affairs in this state as though they were [in] a colony in Africa.”10

NAACP leader Roy Wilkins termed 1889–1945 the country’s “lynching era.” Mississippi had 476, more than any other state, and almost 13 percent of the national total of 3,786.11 The country’s leading black newspaper, the Chicago Defender, called Mississippi the “most brutal community in history.”12

In 1922 Bert and Tom Hederman purchased the state’s leading newspaper, the Clarion-Ledger. They and their sons would control the paper for the next sixty years, using it and their other papers to work with state government to maintain segregation. Bill Minor, the legendary Mississippi bureau chief of the New Orleans Times-Picayune, termed the sons “Bible-quotin’, Bible-totin’ racists.”13 A classic Hederman story I recall seeing was captioned “McComb Negro Hits Train.”

The 1960 census reported that nonwhites made up 36.1 percent of the voting-age population of the state, but only 6.2 percent of them were registered to vote. Not a single African American was registered in thirteen of the eighty-two Mississippi counties.14 Forrest County had twelve.15

In 1960, six years after the decision in Brown v. Board of Education16 and two years after President Eisenhower sent in federal troops to support court-ordered integration of Little Rock’s Central High School,17 Ross R. Barnett, in his inaugural address as Mississippi’s governor, declared to both racist whites and aggrieved blacks: “Our schools at all levels must be kept segregated at all costs.”18

When my legal career brought me to Mississippi two years later, I worked in most of the southern half of the state. But I spent particular time and effort in Forrest County, in the southeast but north of the strip of counties along the Gulf Coast. The county seat was Hattiesburg.

While there were a few white settlers in the vicinity in the 1820s, a sign in front of the old federal courthouse on Pine Street credits Hattiesburg’s founding to an entrepreneur named William Harris Hardy. Captain Hardy, a Confederate veteran and later a state senator and judge, was vice president of a proposed railroad from Meridian to New Orleans. In 1880, while plotting the railroad, he founded Hattiesburg and named it for his wife, Hattie Lott. Forrest County, named for Nathan Bedford Forrest, the famed Confederate cavalry leader who founded the Ku Klux Klan, was formed twenty-eight years later.

A thriving post–Civil War community, blessed with a good railroad, great pine forests, and huge lumber mills, Hattiesburg should have been a town of progressive race relations. It had no base in slavery and lacked any scars from Reconstruction.

Even after the boom was over, much of the timber gone and its natural resources eroded, Forrest County was two-thirds white and had no reasonable fear of black political domination. Yet it was one of only three Mississippi counties with any significant urban population that barred virtually all blacks from voting.19
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On November 10, 1949, Forrest County’s Board of Supervisors determined that the county’s voter registration books were “so confused that a new registration of the voters of the County [was] necessary to determine clearly the names of the qualified electors of the County and the election districts and precincts of each of the said voters.”20 June 1, 1950, was the effective date of the new registration.21

The process presented a problem for the county’s minority black population. It wasn’t that the law was any worse. The voting requirements of the Mississippi Constitution had remained unchanged for sixty years. You still had to be able to read any section of the constitution or understand or interpret it when read to you. But Luther Cox, now in his fifteenth year as Forrest County registrar of voters, appeared no longer satisfied with the efforts of the crafters of the constitution.

On April 11, 1950, fifteen “native born colored citizens,” led by the Reverend I. C. Peay of Mount Zion Baptist Church and future Lynd witness B. F. Bourn, filed suit against Cox in federal court. The case became known as Peay v. Cox. They were not waiting for assistance from the U.S. Department of Justice or anyone else, and they accused the registrar of making them interpret the constitution whether they could read or not. Most frequently Cox chose section 14: “No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property except by due process of law.”22

Bourn and Vernon Dahmer were the leaders of the handful of blacks who constituted Forrest County’s NAACP chapter when it was founded September 9, 1946. The chapter’s history declares: “There were burnings, intimidations, harassments, murders, even by those sworn to uphold the law. But through it all the Forrest County Branch never wavered or surrendered.”

The Klan was aware of B. F. Bourn. One night, a wooden cross five feet high was burned on Old Airport Road, right in front of his house. Other incidents in his youth prompted B. F. to carry a pistol with him much of the time.

Another plaintiff was R. C. Jones, born in Hattiesburg on Christmas Day 1915, the second of ten children. His father was a railway baggage handler, his mother a strong member of the Morningstar Baptist Church. R. C. graduated from Eureka High School in 1934. If he hadn’t missed so many classes helping out his family during the Depression, he could have been valedictorian. He did some teaching and enrolled in the noted black college, Morehouse in Atlanta.

Jones was drafted in 1943, serving in a medics support group assigned to the Quartermaster Corps in Europe. Honorably discharged in 1946, he studied civil engineering for a year under the GI bill at the University of New Mexico.

That same year he paid his first visit to the office of Circuit Clerk Luther Cox to try to register to vote. Cox “proceeded to ask questions,”23 questions he was not entitled to ask of someone who could obviously read as Jones could. The first time, Cox asked about land titles and then told Jones that he had failed. The second time, Cox asked Jones what the due process of law was. Jones’s answer was “any person charged with a crime could be tried in the proper court with the proper jury, whether it be civil or criminal.”24 It was certainly an example of due process. But R. C. Jones was rejected again. At least, he had gotten to see Cox. That was not always the case over the next three years.

In 1948 he was hired by Principal N. R. Burger to teach physics and math at Eureka High School. Now Jones got involved with other black leaders of Forrest County who wanted to vote. Their business and professional men’s organization was the vehicle. Dr. Charles W. Smith, the druggist, and Milton Barnes, who ran the cleaning establishment over on Manning Avenue, joined with Jones, Bourn, Reverend Peay, the Reverend J. H. Mays, and others to raise the money to retain a lawyer. Alfonso Clark, a teacher and businessman, was their contact with the lawyer who had “nerve enough to take the case.”25

No law school in Mississippi accepted blacks. Medgar Evers, then twenty-nine, a veteran of World War II service in a racially segregated army field battalion in England and France, applied to Ole Miss Law School in 1954. Today a small exhibit at the law school commemorates his application, but in 1954, he was, of course, rejected.26 There were only a handful of black lawyers in the state and none in Forrest County. What white lawyer would represent them?

T. Price Dale, an attorney in his late sixties, a former mayor of Columbia, Mississippi, and a chancery judge for sixteen years, was a member of the white establishment—but a renegade member. That was not the case with Dale’s brother, Circuit Judge Sebe Dale, a Citizens’ Council member and an associate of the late Theodore G. Bilbo. The Dale brothers were both lawyers and judges, but they were very different people.

Sebe Dale, who previously had been district attorney for eight years, was to be the trial judge in the notorious Mack Charles Parker case, the black former soldier accused of raping a young pregnant white woman. Dale had denied motions to dismiss the indictment because of the exclusion of blacks from the grand jury and to change the venue because of the deep local animosity toward Parker. In April 1959, Parker was taken out of the Poplarville jail by a mob, shot and thrown into the Pearl River, his body in chains. Bill Minor told me, “Dale’s remarks were absolutely extreme. He minimized the whole thing, made it look like it was just all grandstanding. No one was ever charged.”27

Four years later Judge Sebe Dale spoke in Connecticut for the Mississippi Sovereignty Commission, the agency charged with promoting the state’s segregationist views. Asked whether Parker’s killers would ever be brought to justice, Dale replied that three had died. Challenged over knowing who the killers were and doing nothing about it, Dale retorted that his job was fairness in the courtroom, not prosecution.28

T. Price Dale pulled no punches as he vigorously represented his black clients. Many of his plaintiffs, he declared, were college trained, and all of them could read any section of the Mississippi Constitution. Disparate treatment was alleged: “white citizens applying to defendant Registrar are not examined by him as to the meaning of any section of said Constitution,” while colored citizens “without exception” were so examined.29 The registration examinations were totally subjective and racially biased.

Courageous enough to represent the disfranchised blacks, T. Price Dale was well aware too of the complex appellate process established in Mississippi law. Written appeals had to be filed within five days with the board of election commissioners, which met in October.30 An appellant was entitled to a hearing and could call witnesses.31 Then one could post a $100 bond and go on, as to questions of law, to the circuit court, and ultimately to the Mississippi Supreme Court if one had the tenacity and the money for another $500 bond. But if the rejection was upheld, the bonds were applied to the county’s costs.32

For blacks asserting their right to vote, it was a detailed, expensive charade that led nowhere. In emotional prose for a legal brief, Dale emphasized to the federal court that state law did not permit a rejected class to appeal and that imposing such a procedural burden on individual members of “a poor and unfortunate people … would be staggering and unconscionable and utterly unthinkable … that the very machinery provided by the Legislature for their relief from oppression would be the very instrumentality to crush them into the earth.”33

Now that many blacks were receiving enough education to enable them to read the sections of the constitution itself, the registrar of a major county had erected his own illegal barrier, asking questions he was not entitled to ask, and ignoring correct answers at that. T. Price Dale had chosen to challenge the way Luther Cox applied the law rather than brand the law as unconstitutional.

Twenty-three Hattiesburg lawyers, including M. M. Roberts and Francis T. Zachary, signed Cox’s answer to the complaint. On October 13, 1950, U.S. district court judge Sidney C. Mize, a Roosevelt appointee, dismissed the action, sustaining five of the six asserted defenses, including failure to have exhausted the state’s administrative remedies.

Less than a decade later no district court judge in the Fifth Circuit would have been able to get away with a decision like that, but the appeal from Mize’s decision was decided June 21, 1951. Richard T. Rives of Alabama had been a member of the court for just six weeks, and Dwight Eisenhower was still three years away from making the first of the appointments that would alter permanently the course of justice in the southern United States.

Federal appeals are generally heard by three-judge circuit panels. The judges to whom Chief Judge Joseph C. Hutcheson, Jr., assigned Peay v. Cox were distinguished. Louie Willard Strum was graduated at the top of the class at Stetson University’s law school. In 1925 he was named a justice of the Florida Supreme Court and in 1931, though a Democrat, was appointed by Republican president Hoover as U.S. district judge for the Southern District of Florida. Strum served as a trial judge until named by President Truman to the “Florida seat” on the Fifth Circuit in September 1950, less than a year before sitting on Peay v. Cox.

Also on the panel was the previous chief judge, Samuel Hale Sibley, an honors graduate of the University of Georgia who taught Latin and Greek there while obtaining his law degree. In 1919, President Wilson appointed Sibley the United States district judge for the Northern District of Georgia. In addition to his own district’s work, he often sat by designation with the appellate court. There was little surprise then, despite his also being a Democrat, when President Hoover named him a circuit judge in January 1931. When Sibley left active status in 1949 at the age of seventy-six, Supreme Court justice Benjamin Cardozo praised Sibley as “the soundest and ablest judge on any court in the United States.”34

After World War II, the flow of the civil rights cases that ultimately defined the circuit’s place in history slowly commenced. In 1946 Sibley, writing for the court, struck down Georgia’s all-white Democratic primary. It was, obviously enough, “part of the public election machinery.”35

But two years earlier, Sibley had dissented from the circuit’s opinion in Screws v. United States, which concerned the death of a handcuffed black man beaten to death by three Georgia law enforcement officers.36 Though his two colleagues held that federal prosecution was indicated because of the official positions of the defendants, Sibley found no federal law under the color of which the defendants had acted.

Horror at what happened in this case has, I think, interfered with a calm consideration of the law involved. Certainly, if the evidence for the prosecution is credited, the appellants ought to be in the penitentiary. The question is, ought they to be in a penitentiary of the United States?37

The Supreme Court reversed the decision 6–3 because of the jury instructions, but agreed with the panel majority that the defendants had acted under color of law and that there was a federal offense.

Hutcheson himself was the Peay v. Cox panel’s third member. He had been valedictorian of his class at the University of Texas Law School. After seventeen years of private practice, and brief service as city solicitor, Hutcheson was elected mayor of Houston in 1917. Just a year later, however, he left city hall for the federal courthouse when President Wilson appointed him U.S. district judge for the Southern District of Texas. By the time he reached the age of seventy and had to retire as chief judge of the circuit, Hutcheson had written 1,712 opinions during his twenty-eight years on the Court of Appeals.38 Judge Elbert Tuttle told me that he knew of no civil rights opinion written by Hutcheson, but that Hutcheson did not dissent from pro-civil rights opinions written by others.39

The record in Peay v. Cox was filed with the circuit court January 22, 1951. Five months later the panel of Hutcheson, Sibley, and Strum rendered their decision. Judge Mize was reversed—with direction—but there was little for the plaintiffs to cheer about. Sibley, writing for the panel, stated: “We think … that the remedy by injunction … ought not to be had to control the State officer in the conduct of his office even though his conduct may appear to be wrong, until the remedy to correct him provided by the State has been exhausted.”40

And the remedy: appeal to that de novo evidentiary hearing before the board of election commissioners meeting each October. “The commissioners are sworn officers and presumably will give them a fair hearing.”41 And there could, of course, then be judicial appeals.

Naiveté would be the most generous term to apply to Sibley’s opinion, but Sibley, Hutcheson, and Strum were far from naive. The gallant early effort of fifteen brave black men and their equally courageous lawyer to overturn an illegal pattern of discrimination by a Forrest County registrar had been deliberately stalled in the very court which eleven years later, under new management, would sound a clear call for justice.
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On January 27, 1997, newspapers throughout the country declared that the files of the Mississippi State Sovereignty Commission would be opened to the public. “Persons who were subject to investigation or surveillance without their knowledge, consent or approval” could now review what the commission’s spies had written about them and to request to have it redacted before the records were made public.

I was #2-45-1-85-3-1-1, one of the more than seven hundred “victims” who contacted the Mississippi Department of Archives and History within the allotted time period.42 Half of us were disappointed to find we hadn’t been mentioned. The Boston Globe reporter Curtis Wilkie, a white liberal student activist at Ole Miss at the time of James Meredith’s entry there, wrote: “For many, it was like being left off President Nixon’s enemies list.”43 Revelations about the Sovereignty Commission might appear amusing to some outside of Mississippi decades later, but the intimidation of the commission was deadly serious for those blacks targeted in the late fifties and the sixties.44

On May 17, 1954, “Black Monday,” as it came to be known in Mississippi, the Supreme Court, in Brown v. Board of Education, outlawed official school segregation in the United States. Two days later the phrase was used on the floor of the House of Representatives by Mississippi congressman John Bell Williams. It was, however, a local circuit judge, Tom Brady, who popularized it, first in a talk to the Sons of the American Revolution in Greenwood, then in a pamphlet expanding his remarks.45 Brady, a graduate of the New Jersey prep school, Lawrenceville, and of Yale, was one of the best-educated men in the state. But that had not improved his racial attitudes: “The social, political, economic and religious preferences of the Negro remain close to the caterpillar and the cockroach … A cockroach or caterpillar remains proper food for a chimpanzee.”46

Citizens’ Councils sprang up throughout the state composed of white civic leaders seeking a form of opposition more “respectable” than the violence of the Ku Klux Klan. “White collar Klan” was what Bill Minor called them. Senator Eastland declared the South will not “obey this legislative decision by a political court.”47

In the 1850s, Senator John C. Calhoun of South Carolina had advocated interposition, placing oneself on behalf of the state to block the national government. It was alive and well in a resolution passed unanimously by both houses of the Mississippi legislature on February 29, 1956.48

On March 29, 1956, with the support of the new governor, James P. Coleman, the Mississippi State Sovereignty Commission came into existence.49 On May 16, 1956, the Jackson Daily News reported that the twelve lawyers who constituted the Sovereignty Commission had voted “to employ secret investigators as ‘an official arm of state government’ who would ‘serve as the eyes and ears’ in the state’s fight against racial integration.”50

By 1959, the commission had “gone into every county in Mississippi to determine just where NAACP chapters are located, who the negro agitators might be, and where the potential trouble spots in the state might be.”51 The commission gathered information on civil rights activists, real and imagined, investigated meetings and other activities, and made plans to subvert them.52

Several times between 1958 and 1960, commission investigators reported that there was “no racial activity” in Forrest County. Still, they collected the names of alleged NAACP members. Spies were paid to infiltrate organizations and voter registration drives,53 and the commission had black informants.54 Minutes of the commission reflect that Percy Greene, the editor and publisher of the black weekly, the Jackson Advocate, a man scorned in the black community as an “Uncle Tom,” was paid $3,230 during 1958 for either “investigations” or “advertisement.”55

Jackson’s biggest newspapers, the Clarion-Ledger and the Daily News, “regularly killed stories and ran segregationist propaganda at the request of the state Sovereignty Commission in the ’50s and ’60s.”56 Harassment of Medgar Evers, state field secretary of the NAACP, and the heart and soul of the civil rights movement in Mississippi, was an ongoing commission activity until his murder in June 1963.57 The financial problems the NAACP had throughout the 1950s did not lessen the threat the commission saw in it.58

Applicants for teaching positions or even notary public were investigated as a matter of routine. “Is he NAACP?” was the standard question. Those who applied to teach in the black schools of Forrest County had their references checked by commission investigators, not for their teaching ability, of course, but for possible NAACP ties.59 This went on until 1973.60

Nathaniel Burger, an Alcorn College graduate and principal of Hattiesburg’s black high school, recalled that black college presidents had to clear with the State Board of Higher Education the names of any outside speakers they wished to invite to their campuses.61 On December 11, 1958, Burger himself was visited by Zack Van Landingham, the commission’s chief field investigator, about Clyde Kennard, a black former paratrooper and decorated veteran of the Korean War.62 Kennard had attended the University of Chicago and announced his intention to enroll at Mississippi Southern College. Five days earlier he had stated in a letter to the editor that was published in the Hattiesburg American:

Although I am an integrationist by choice, I am a segregationist by nature, and I think most Negroes are …, but experience has taught us that if we are ever to attain the goal of first class citizenship we must do it through a closer association with the dominant (white) group.63

Burger stated that he was “well acquainted with Kennard, whom he described as intelligent, well educated and a deep thinker.”64 But he denied knowing whether Clyde Kennard was a member of the NAACP or whether there was even a chapter in the nearby Eatonville community, where Kennard had been running a poultry farm since returning from Chicago.

Burger did tell the investigator that he thought “nothing but ill will, dissention and strife would result” from Kennard’s attempt, and that he was “willing to work with a committee of Negroes to try to get him to withdraw this application.”65 Burger was one of a number of black leaders interviewed who attempted to trade their efforts to have Clyde Kennard leave Mississippi Southern alone in return for a “badly needed” junior college which “would go a long way toward satisfying the negroes in that area.”66

Kennard withdrew his application after a two-hour meeting with Governor Coleman and Southern’s president, but then resubmitted it following the August 1959 Democratic primary. Blacks rightly feared economic pressure if they attempted voter registration, and there was all the more pressure applied to Kennard because of his integration attempt.

The Forrest County Cooperative foreclosed on his poultry farm and confiscated his stock. The Southern Farm Bureau Insurance Company canceled its liability coverage on his automobile.67 Sovereignty Commission records reveal various plots considered against Kennard, who it claimed was an NAACP leader and associated with a Jewish “self-confessed Communist.”68 Among the schemes not carried out was attaching dynamite to the starter of Kennard’s Mercury.69

A nonviolent alternative in this “dry” state was planting whiskey in Kennard’s car. This took place on September 15, 1959, minutes after his rejection. A devout Baptist who neither smoked nor drank, Kennard was charged not just with being a bootlegger, but with reckless driving, though his locked car had been parked for half an hour. Two constables claimed they had observed Kennard speeding earlier that morning and had chased him, but lost the car. Van Landingham reported to Governor Coleman what he recognized as “a frame-up with the planting of the evidence in Kennard’s car.”70 However, on September 29, 1959, Kennard was found guilty of illegal liquor possession and reckless driving and fined $600.71

That conviction was later reversed, with Medgar Evers observing from the segregated balcony, but Kennard was convicted on November 21, 1960, of burglary after a ten-minute deliberation by an all-white jury.72 Johnny Roberts, a nineteen-year-old black, testified that he had stolen $25 of chicken feed from the same cooperative that had foreclosed on Kennard’s farm and that Kennard had bought it despite knowing it was stolen.

Roberts received a suspended sentence. Kennard’s sentence was seven years at Parchman, Mississippi’s maximum-security facility.73 No one who knew Mississippi could doubt that Clyde Kennard’s real crime was trying to attend Mississippi Southern.

In a press release he issued the next day, Evers called the proceeding “the greatest mockery [to judicial] justice.” Evers was then found guilty of contempt, fined $100, and sentenced to serve thirty days in jail.74 That conviction was reversed on appeal. Kennard’s was not.

R. Jess Brown and Jack H. Young, two of the small number of black attorneys in the state, appealed Kennard’s conviction to Mississippi’s supreme court, on the grounds of the systematic exclusion of Negroes from juries. But the court found “that there were Negroes who were on the jury lists … The issue here is not whether some individual or individuals have been denied the right to register.”75 Thurgood Marshall’s petition for certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied.76

A year into his confinement at Parchman, Kennard contracted intestinal cancer. By the time he was granted early release by Governor Ross Barnett, Kennard weighed under a hundred pounds. Taken to Chicago for emergency surgery, he died on Independence Day, 1963.77

Four decades later, Judge Barbour wrote:

As the secret intelligence arm of the State, the Commission engaged in a wide variety of unlawful activity, thereby depriving the Plaintiffs of their constitutional rights to free speech and association, to personal privacy and to lawful search and seizure … through unlawful investigations and through intentional actions designed to harass and stigmatize … The avowed intent of the Commission and its co-conspirators was to chill or preclude the Plaintiffs from speech, assembly, association, and the petition of government.78

That was life in Mississippi in the decade before United States v. Theron Lynd first came to trial: state-financed investigators, spies, and informers intimidating and punishing any black citizens in the state bold enough to assert their rights, even by trumping up false charges and applying outrageous prison sentences for them.

In 1991 Sovereignty Commission records and the investigative reporting of Jerry Mitchell, working for the new owners of the Clarion-Ledger, demonstrated to a public becoming interested in Mississippi’s civil rights–era transgressions its abuse of Clyde Kennard. Johnny Roberts recanted his confused perjured testimony. In 1993 the University of Southern Mississippi named its Social Services building for Kennard and retired Alcorn president Walter Washington. While Governor Haley Barbour declined to pardon Kennard posthumously in 2006, he did join with university officials and others in successfully petitioning the court in which Kennard had been convicted to exonerate him.79


CHAPTER 2

A CIVIL RIGHTS DIVISION
IN JUSTICE

The alumni of the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Division can now indulge in nostalgia about our past. We print up T-shirts with the department seal. But before 1960 it was by no means certain there would be any deeds worth celebrating.

The Civil Rights Division was formally created pursuant to the Civil Rights Act of 1957 by President Eisenhower’s second attorney general, William P. Rogers.1 The United States Department of Justice is composed of offices and divisions, each with its own assistant attorney general and dealing with its own area of the law: for example, antitrust, civil, criminal, lands, tax. Their creation is no casual matter. The new division, however, could build upon a civil rights section established by Attorney General Frank Murphy in 1939 in the Criminal Division under the name Civil Liberties Unit.2

President Franklin Roosevelt had been overwhelmingly reelected in 1936 but had backed away from anti-lynching legislation, a severe disappointment to America’s black citizens who had said “farewell to the party of Lincoln” and joined Roosevelt’s coalition.3 However, the NAACP’s unsuccessful anti-lynching campaign appeared to have some influence in the section’s creation, as had labor support from the powerful Congress of Industrial Organizations (CIO).4

Once in existence, the unit often seemed to be spinning its wheels, squabbling with the FBI over whether to implement the surviving Reconstruction statutes of the Civil Rights Act of 1866.5 Enforcement was a problem for the fledging section attempting to prosecute police brutality cases despite the hostility of juries, particularly in the Deep South.

The lawyers also were lodged in an administrative environment of a division that had other important priorities. And FBI director J. Edgar Hoover, whose hostility toward civil rights was well known, had little desire to enter situations in a way that would only harm the bureau’s highly cultivated relationship with local police chiefs and sheriffs.6 While one may sympathize with the legal problems of civil rights enforcement before the 1957 Civil Rights Act, it is still shocking to observe the paper shuffling that went on as a substitute for law enforcement. Forrest County itself is a prime example.

On May 13, 1952, the Criminal Division acknowledged receipt of the nine Forrest County affidavits from Thurgood Marshall.7 Over the next year memoranda strolled back and forth between the division, the FBI, and the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Mississippi. Finally, the U.S. Attorney met with Luther Cox and Attorney M. M. Roberts, who assured him “that all persons entitled to register would be registered” and that Cox would no longer require interpretations from those who could read.8 President Eisenhower’s first assistant attorney general of the Criminal Division, Warren Olney, then advised Thurgood Marshall that they regarded this assurance as “a satisfactory disposition of the matter, unless we receive valid complaints to the contrary in the future.”9

In less than two months Thurgood Marshall submitted twenty-four additional affidavits on behalf of blacks rejected in February and March. Only three blacks had been registered. Leading the new affiants was teacher Addie Burger. Also included were the Reverend I. C. Peay, lead plaintiff in the 1950 litigation against Cox; teacher Iva Sandifer; Savannah Davis; local NAACP leaders Vernon Dahmer and B. F. Bourn; druggist Charles W. Smith; Alfonso Clark; and Milton Barnes, who ran the cleaning shop. Bourn, Smith, Clark, and Barnes had also been plaintiffs in Peay v. Cox.

The case was reopened.

[image: image] May 8, 1953: The New Orleans office of the Bureau advised that 27 victims had been interviewed. All had either been rejected by Cox personally or told by the female clerks in the office that they would have to see Cox. Almost a month later, Olney drew the obvious conclusion for the U.S. Attorney that Cox, “despite his promise, has deliberately refused to register Negro citizens because of their race.”

[image: image] In mid-June, the U.S. Attorney, still not replaced by the new administration, conceded that Cox “has not carried out the representations and promises made to me and to [Assistant U.S. Attorney Robert Hauberg],” and asked what statute Cox had violated. In July he was instructed to seek a criminal indictment against Cox for violations of Title 18 United States Code sec. 242. Mrs. Burger was the model victim. On the same date, the FBI advised Olney that Hauberg had told a New Orleans agent that no further investigation was necessary and that the grand jury presentation would likely be made in September or November. None was made until April.

[image: image] May 6, 1954: Hauberg, by now promoted to U.S. Attorney, reported that evidence had been presented over two days, but the Grand Jury failed to indict. “There was some discrepancy in the testimony of Addie Burger. Another of the witnesses admitted that he had recently been allowed to register.” How about another conference, he urged, perhaps with four or five of the leading attorneys in Forrest County?

A week later, Olney replied that before he would authorize such a conference, he wanted to review a transcript of the grand jury testimony. But there was none. Hauberg didn’t have a court reporter at the grand jury session. Eleven weeks then passed before Olney, occupied with other Criminal Division cases, and possibly discouraged, asked Hauberg what was happening with the conference Hauberg had suggested.

[image: image] August 30, 1954: Hauberg reported that he had talked to the Hattiesburg lawyer who would probably represent Cox were he indicted, who “believed such a conference would be beneficial …. He stated he would immediately contact Mr. Cox in an effort to advise him that he (Cox) would have to see that qualified persons were permitted to register.”

September passed and then the first week of October before Olney sought to find out what, if anything, was occurring in Mississippi. He learned that Hauberg had been busy at the U.S. Attorneys’ Conference, and the Hattiesburg meeting would be held the following week.

Two weeks later Olney was advised that Hauberg had met with “four or five of the leading Hattiesburg lawyers and three judges.” The president of the Forrest County Bar Association agreed to appoint a committee to determine what could be done upon his taking office the next month. One or two of the lawyers again brought up the failure of the applicants to exhaust their administrative remedies.

Apart from a few plaintive what’s happening inquiries by the bureau, there was no action on the matter from November 12, 1954, to February 24, 1955. What passed for action then was Hauberg’s forwarding to Arthur B. Caldwell, chief of the Civil Rights Section since 1952, a “Dear Robert” letter he had received from former chancery judge Lester Clark, a member of the committee, endorsing Cox as a “very high class, conscientious public official (who) has always tried to perform his duties … to continue the harmony and goodwill between the races.” Judge Clark also noted that “Negro leaders are cooperating with us in a splendid way in bringing better schools, better school buildings and facilities for all our children.”10 Judge Clark concluded that “the best Circuit Clerk we have ever had” would “perform his duties in keeping with (his) solemn oath of office.”

Hauberg called the department’s attention to new requirements for registration passed by the Mississippi legislature in November. He was busy in Biloxi, but would be “glad to furnish you a copy of it if you so desire.”

[image: image] March 9, 1955: Olney to Hauberg: “Although we appreciate very much the services of Judge Clark and his committee, we are, nevertheless, struck by the absence of … a statement on the part of Mr. Cox … that he intends to afford all qualified citizens an opportunity to register regardless of race or color.” In the absence of such a commitment, consideration should be given to filing an information [a prosecution the U.S. Attorney could initiate himself] since you view another Grand Jury presentation as futile.

[image: image] April 19, 1955: Hauberg reported another dilatory conference which included Judge Clark and Senator, later state Judge, Stanton Hall, who said they would take up the Department’s request with Cox. A week later Hauberg forwarded a second letter in which Judge Clark stated: “Our Bar Association Committee is convinced that the provisions of the Constitution and of the Election Laws of the State of Mississippi are being and will be fully complied with.” Clark added that Cox already had four opponents in the forthcoming election. The arrival of Theron Lynd on the county political scene was thus noted, though he wasn’t singled out.

[image: image] May 12, 1955: Olney noted to both Hauberg and the Bureau that Judge Clark had again failed to set forth any commitment by Cox and requested that the Bureau look at all registration activity since January 1, 1954, white and black. Hauberg was again told to consider filing a criminal information unless the Bureau found no discrimination.

On May 30 the FBI reported that 2,195 whites and five blacks had been registered in Forrest County since January 1, 1954. Finally, eleven months later, another bureau query brought this response from Olney: “No further action is desired in this matter.”

That was it. Four years had passed. Multiple memoranda had traveled back and forth, arms-length dealing among the Criminal Division, the United States Attorney in Southern Mississippi, and the FBI, all parts of the Department of Justice. There had been one rejection by the grand jury, two meaningless conferences, and a clear unwillingness to commence a criminal prosecution on the part of the U.S. Attorney. Whatever Hoover’s attitude was, many times it was only FBI prodding that caused Justice’s Criminal Division to open its file.
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On April 9, 1956, Attorney General Herbert Brownell sent to Congress legislation dealing with the right to vote, creating a Commission on Civil Rights, as well as a Civil Rights Division with its own assistant attorney general, and asserting Justice Department power to intervene in civil rights violations generally. While Senate Democrats such as Thomas Hennings of Missouri branded Brownell’s belated arrival on the civil rights scene as blatant election-eve politics,11 the House passed the voting rights bill in less than three months. Brownell had pushed the legislation despite White House support only for a Civil Rights Commission to educate the public.12 A negative briefing by the FBI’s J. Edgar Hoover at a March cabinet meeting may have reinforced President Eisenhower’s “inclination to passivity.”13 The Senate recessed the next day without having considered the House bill.

After the 1956 election the Civil Rights Section asked the FBI to find out how many whites and blacks had voted in the 1952 and 1956 presidential elections in Mississippi and four other southern states. The bureau declined, contending that the request was made to promote civil rights legislation, not to investigate violation of federal statutes within the bureau’s jurisdiction.14

A Civil Rights Commission was proposed that would fill this gap. It was to be an independent bipartisan agency with no enforcement powers, though it could hold hearings and subpoena witnesses. The mission of the six part-time appointed members would be to investigate and identify instances of discrimination for the Justice Department to act upon.

Brownell’s effort for civil rights legislation with the next Congress, still Democratic controlled, began early. He appeared in February 1957 in the friendly confines of Congressman Emmanuel Celler’s House Judiciary Committee. Part I of the act established the Civil Rights Commission, Part II a Civil Rights Division within Justice, and Part IV authorized the attorney general to seek injunctions to protect Fifteenth Amendment voting rights. All had been recommended by the President’s Committee on Civil Rights.

In Part III, however, Brownell requested authorization for the attorney general to seek injunctions in civil suits designed to protect the wide range of Fourteenth Amendment civil rights violations. The Civil Rights Section attorney Dave Norman considered Part III “a decoy to get voting rights.”15

The NAACP lobbyist Clarence Mitchell, Jr., and other liberals wanted to rush the bill through the House so there would be enough time to overcome a Senate filibuster. On the Senate side, hearings were held before Senator Hennings’s Subcommittee on Constitutional Rights. For three days, Brownell was grilled by North Carolina senator Sam Ervin, Jr., particularly about Part III. Tension was high since the bill was being heard during the highly fraught period of the impending desegregation of Little Rock’s Central High School.16

Hennings had reported the bill to the full Judiciary Committee the year before and believed his cozy three-member subcommittee could do the same in 1957. He had not counted on Senator Eastland’s adding Ervin and three other conservatives to the subcommittee when Judiciary first met. It was two months before the subcommittee’s favorable report went to the full committee.

That put the bill overtly in the hands—or satchel—of Senator Eastland, who gave an interview to Tom Wicker, then a twenty-eight-year-old reporter for the Winston-Salem Journal. Wicker wrote: “The soft-spoken man propping his gouty foot on the big cluttered desk doesn’t seem to mind [that he had become a] byword for prejudice.” Eastland told Wicker that liberals planning to move the bill quickly through Judiciary would not find it “as easy as they thought.”17 Eastland simply did not recognize Hennings’s attempts to bring his subcommittee’s report before the full committee.

On June 18, after a final push by Speaker Sam Rayburn, the House passed the legislation, H.R. 6127, 286 to 126.18 From then on, Majority Leader Lyndon Johnson, who had preserved the filibuster as a potential tool early in the session, tirelessly worked senator after senator to ensure there be no senate filibuster of the bill. Johnson knew he could only sell legislation securing the right to vote. Support for a long-sought federal dam at Hells Canyon attracted western votes to a version of the bill southerners would not filibuster, and the bill made it to the Senate calendar. Moving it from the calendar to the floor was the next major hurdle.

Intense Senate debate followed, with Part III, the section giving the Justice Department authority to protect a wide range of Fourteenth Amendment rights, under particular attack by Georgia senator Richard Russell. Senator Olin Johnston of South Carolina declared the new Civil Rights Division would be a “new Gestapo.”19 By a vote of 52–38 Part III was eliminated, but the prospect of something passing was preserved.20 This was largely due to the arm-twisting, in-your-face intense pressure from the towering Senate Majority Leader from Texas, Lyndon Johnson.

No civil rights bill had been passed by Congress since the 1870s.21 The Fifteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, enacted then, explicitly forbade the right to vote being denied or abridged because of race or color, but any hope of enforcement died with the disputed election of Rutherford B. Hayes over Samuel J. Tilden in 1876. Now the southern senators who had succeeded in eliminating Part III wanted to add the right to a jury trial in the event the attorney general prosecuted anyone for interfering with the right to vote. A populist Democrat from Wyoming, Joseph O’Mahoney, made their motion. Knowing the practices of all-white southern juries, the reaction of liberals was quick.

An article by Carl Auerbach, later dean of the University of Minnesota Law School, led to the first breakthrough.22 O’Mahoney’s bill envisioned only criminal contempt, which would mandate a jury trial. Auerbach proposed the addition of civil contempt, which need not have a jury.

The final key move toward passage came from Idaho’s first-year Democratic senator Frank Church. His contribution to O’Mahoney’s amendment repealed the section of the United States Code that restricted federal jury duty to those who met their state’s qualifications for its own juries.23 Thus blacks barred from jury service in their own states, at least in theory, could serve on federal juries, including prosecutions for interference with the right to vote. Church, who had incurred Johnson’s wrath after voting against the filibuster at the beginning of the session, had voted with the southerners to eliminate Part III. Now he was rewarded with appointment to two choice committees, Foreign Relations and Senator McClellan’s Labor Rackets Committee.24

With Church’s contribution in place, Senator John F. Kennedy joined the majority that passed the jury trial amendment 51–42, at 12:19 A.M. on August 2, not an easy political decision for a man intent on becoming the next Democratic presidential nominee. Meanwhile, the majority leader from Texas, by putting together and passing the first civil rights legislation of the twentieth century, was increasing his national stature. He also meant to be president of the United States.25

Republicans were unhappy in varying degrees about the legislation, as were liberal Democrats, but only Senator Wayne Morse in the liberal camp and no Republican voted against the bill which passed 72–18. Indeed five of the twenty-two southern senators voted for passage. On August 27, the House of Representatives passed the Senate version with just one minor variation, 279–97.26

That the Civil Rights Act of 1957 was not a total solution was well recognized. Roy Wilkins, the public face of the NAACP, disparaged the act as “a small crumb from Congress.”27 The same William Rogers who would formally create the Civil Rights Division likened the legislation to “giving a policeman a gun without bullets.”28 They were right, but the important principle of civil rights legislation in the twentieth century had been established, and the 1957 act was just the start.
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So there was a Civil Rights Division, enacted by Congress, approved by the president and proclaimed by the attorney general. Who would head it? Who would staff it? Where would they come from?

Wilson White, the Civil Rights Division’s first assistant attorney general, was a bright Philadelphia corporate lawyer who had served as U.S. Attorney there before heading the Justice Department’s “intellectual” shop, the Office of Legal Counsel. He had no civil rights background when Attorney General Brownell made him the department’s point man in the integration of Little Rock’s Central High School, but Brownell remained high on him, as did the president. The Judiciary Committee, however, delayed reporting the nomination to the Senate floor, and White did not take over the division until July 1958.29 Supportive telegrams that month to committee members from Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr., may have helped finally to move the nomination along.30

Arthur Caldwell, who had become White’s assistant, considered him “the sweetest guy; the most inoffensive and ineffectual man available,” adding, “You’ve got to be a son-of-a-bitch, a troublemaker. Being in charge of the Civil Rights Division takes courage and guts.”31 Nick Flannery had joined the division after graduating from the University of Pennsylvania Law School in 1958. He recalled White as having “an upper-middle-class orientation. The Division awaited complaints from the victims.” There were few investigations and far fewer prosecutions. “Victims of civil rights crimes are not your middle-class politically conscious types,” Flannery explained.32 “Supine” and “reactive” was how he described the Civil Rights Division he joined in the late fifties.33

White resigned after a year, in part because of recurring clashes with the Civil Rights Commission. That conflict became only somewhat muted during the Kennedy administration. Dave Norman disliked the commission’s “always demanding information from us [which] diverted our energies.”34 Norman, nonetheless, conceded that the department became “sensitive to their prodding.”35

Joseph M. F. Ryan, White’s first assistant as he had been in the Office of Legal Counsel, became acting assistant attorney general upon White’s resignation, holding that post for much of the next year. Caldwell, not one to mince words, termed Ryan “a hostile right-wing Catholic.”36 Flannery thought hostility an overstatement,37 while Norman believed “Ryan didn’t seem to want to enforce the law, but this is probably no more than a reflection of the Administration’s attitude.”38 Both White and Ryan “appeared more sympathetic to the FBI’s desires than to the views of their own subordinates.”39

Henry Putzel, a division section chief who had spent a decade in the Civil Rights Section, delicately described the Ryan tenure as “a period of cautiously feeling our way, developing techniques.”40 And there was no place in Ryan’s “decisions for any influence from the NAACP or other civil rights groups.”41 After the 1959 lynching by the Klan of Mack Charles Parker in Pearl River County, Mississippi, Caldwell was promoted: “I became Assistant to the Assistant Attorney General for Civil Rights. I had a much better office, a secretary, and not a goddam thing to do.”42

That was the leadership. Who were the troops? Nine of the ten or so lawyers of the Civil Rights Section were transferred to the new division. Also, Norman explained, “The Office of Alien Property was finishing up its post-World War II business, so we got about half-a-dozen lawyers from there … Three were real drags.”43 Flannery said: “Out of the twenty lawyers, five or six were real drones, coming from other divisions who were glad to see them leave.”44

Putzel again put it delicately: “At the beginning, we were all very dedicated people with emotional and intellectual involvement. When the Division was formed, some straight criminal types, not civil rights zealots, found themselves in the Civil Rights Division—to their great surprise and perhaps dismay … There was no imaginative, serious effort to use new techniques.”45

A New York Times editorial charged that the division had been “plodding when it should have been imaginative, timid instead of courageous, sluggish when swift action was needed.”46 Administration reaction was not immediate, but change occurred in the Civil Rights Division with the confirmation of Harold Tyler as assistant attorney general on July 14, 1960, and the arrival that month of John Doar as his first assistant. Norman described it:

1960 was an election year. A decision was made high up that we had better do something … [Tyler] spent a little time looking around and decided fairly quickly that he needed a first assistant that could really go. He knew John Doar from Princeton days. It was a decision to go and go hard on civil rights.47

Harold R. “Ace” Tyler, Jr., was a thirty-eight-year-old New York lawyer with brief experience as an Assistant U.S. Attorney and some expertise in tax litigation.48 His appointment was also delayed eight months by the Judiciary Committee. Once confirmed, Tyler and his first assistant, John Doar, began to change things.

Doar was an independent-minded Republican who brought great drive and tenacity to the Civil Rights Division. Born in Minnesota in 1921, John Doar grew up during the Depression in northwest Wisconsin. His father was a country lawyer, his mother a teacher who did not think the local school was good enough for her children. So John and his brother went to a country day school in St. Paul, living during the week in a rooming house down the street from the headmaster.

John was as passionate about sports as about his studies. His school had only an intramural basketball program, but Doar was determined to play college basketball. Doar went to Princeton, and, hustling and overachieving, averaged 7.2 points a game during a 14–6 varsity season led by Hall of Fame coach Butch Van Breda Kolff. In 1943, after his junior year, Doar left Princeton, training as a bomber pilot, but the war ended before he was deployed.

Back at Princeton, Doar was a member of Tiger Inn, a club with many southern members: “good guys,” John says, who recognized they had a racial problem, but wanted to fix it themselves without Yankee interference. During his senior year, the members of Tiger Inn split down the middle on the question of admitting a black, and nothing came of it. Six decades later, Doar received the Princeton Varsity Club’s Citizen Athlete Award for selfless and noble contributions to sport and society.49

Doar went to law school at Cal-Berkeley and intended to make his fortune in the West. He took the Oregon bar exam but had promised his father he would take the Wisconsin exam, too. With his father seriously ill, John returned to Wisconsin and joined his brother Tom and his cousin, Warren Knowles, in a family practice.

But Doar maintained his California ties and was trying a paternity case there in July 1960 when he received the call from Tyler asking him to become first assistant of the Civil Rights Division. He had not been Tyler’s first choice, but high-powered New York and D.C. lawyers would not take a nonpresidential appointment for only a few months in office. So John Doar became the number-two man in the Civil Rights Division.50

Four new voting rights suits were brought in Harold Tyler’s six months—as many as had been brought in the preceding two and a half years.51 Caldwell didn’t like the way Tyler shared Attorney General Rogers’s “Don’t offend Eastland” attitude and deplored the fact that there was so little progress in the prosecution of police brutality.52 That would take place years later during the Johnson administration, flowing directly from deaths such as Vernon Dahmer’s in Forrest County and those of Freedom Summer workers Goodman, Schwerner, and Chaney. All this related to the right to vote and the civil voting rights litigation authorized by the 1957 act and initiated in meaningful fashion by John Doar.

Doar’s first memories of the division were the pile of complaints from over three hundred Negro tenant farmers who had been evicted in Heywood County, Tennessee, and of Henry Putzel fussing over the files.53 The old division stalwarts considered Doar a mixed blessing. Putzel recognized the “dramatic change when Doar came in. With regard to the racial aspects of voting, he took over the entire operation himself.”54 Caldwell considered Doar “a good man. He just didn’t know a damn thing about criminal law…. He was the hardest-working person I have ever seen—young and energetic—we didn’t get along too well.”55

Norman noted the internal tensions:

Those cats [Putzel and Caldwell] had been on civil rights business for years. The way you operate in the Criminal Division is to let the U.S. Attorneys do the work. Washington lawyers review and supervise. It was the bureaucratic way… John had never been in the bureaucracy … Fieldwork … They almost thought it was improper.56

Things would never be the same in the Civil Rights Division. The days of division lawyers sitting back in Washington and reading FBI reports were over. Southern blacks courageous enough to try to register to vote would meet, not blasé FBI agents, doing their job one day on voting rights as they might the next on the interstate transportation of a stolen motor vehicle, but brash young lawyers from Washington committed to the still-radical idea that no American be excluded from voting.57
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